
CABINET MEMBER FOR NEIGHBOURHOODS 
 
Venue: Town Hall, Moorgate 

Street, Rotherham. 
Date: Monday, 30th March, 2009 

  Time: 10.00 a.m. 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
1. To determine if the following matters are to be considered under the categories 

suggested in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972.  
  

 
2. To determine any item which the Chair is of the opinion should be considered 

as a matter of urgency.  
  

 
(The Chair authorised consideration of the following item to enable the 

appropriate processes to be actioned.) 
 

 
3. Devolved Budgets for Area Assemblies - Progress Report (Pages 1 - 5) 
  

 
4. Energy Efficiency in Homes (Pages 6 - 11) 
  

 
5. Under Age Sales Purchasing Procedures (Pages 12 - 37) 
  

 
6. Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 The following items are likely to be considered in the absence of the press and 

public as being exempt under those paragraphs listed below of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 

 
7. Housing and Support Services for Older People (Pages 38 - 46) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
8. Rotherham Independent Domestic Violence Advocacy Service (Pages 47 - 53) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
9. Building New Council Homes (Pages 54 - 63) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
10. Maltby Masterplan (Pages 64 - 87) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 

 



11. Maltby Tarrans Estate (Pages 88 - 96) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
12. Braithwell Road Redevelopment (Pages 97 - 148) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
13. Brampton Bierlow Masterplan (Pages 149 - 156) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
14. Chapel Avenue/Becknoll Road and Rother Street, Brampton Bierlow - Options 

(Pages 157 - 169) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
15. Dinnington Masterplan (Pages 170 - 180) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
16. Nos. 28-48 Monksbridge Road, Laughton Common (Pages 181 - 228) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 3 of the Act - information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any person (including the Council)) 
 
17. Introductory Tenancy Review Panel (Pages 229 - 231) 
 (Exempt under Paragraph 2 of the Act – information which is likely to reveal the 

identity of an individual) 
 



 
 
 
1.  Meeting: Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods 

2.  Date: 30th March 2009 

3.  Title: Devolved Budgets for Area Assemblies – Progress 
Report 

4.  Directorate: Neighbourhoods and Adult Services 

 
5. Summary 
 
This report provides an update on the process for the development of project 
proposals to be funded through either LAGBI or identified budgets within 
Neighbourhood and Adult Services.  Such proposals will enable the delivery of local 
initiatives which meet community priorities as identified in the Area Plans of the Area 
Assemblies.   
 
Appendix 1 of the report contains detailed proposals from the Area Assembly 
Coordinating Groups for projects identified to be funded within the 08/09 financial 
year for Rother Valley West and Rotherham North. 
 
6.  Recommendations 
 
That the Cabinet Member 
 

i. Approves the projects to be funded from identified NAS budgets; and 
  
ii. Recommends the LAGBI project proposals to the Cabinet for 

ratification.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 

Agenda Item 3Page 1



7. Proposals and Details 
 
The 2007 Scrutiny Review of Area Assemblies included a recommendation that, 
'Area Assemblies should receive increased and wider devolved budgets by May 
2009 in line with the emphasis on devolved budgets and locality working in the 2006 
White Paper 'Strong and Prosperous’ Communities’ 
 
In Nov 2008 Cabinet approved new Delegated Powers, Terms of Reference for Area 
Assemblies and Co-ordinating Groups, and a procedure for the implementation of 
devolved budgets. 
 
Devolving budgets to Area Assemblies will enable RMBC to comply with the 
provisions of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, in 
providing citizen engagement through participatory budgets and involving local 
people in making decisions on spending priorities.  This means engaging residents 
and community groups representative of all parts of the community to discuss 
spending priorities, make spending proposals and vote on them, as well as giving 
local people a role in the scrutiny and monitoring of the process. 
 

The new powers will enable Area Assemblies to address issues of local importance 
and priority and help to build capacity and experience in managing resources and 
projects, paving the way for greater devolution of mainstream budgets to Assemblies 
from 2010/11 onwards.  The initiative would, therefore, be sustainable in the longer 
term.     
 
Delivery Criteria  
 
Following the approval by Cabinet of LAGBI funding in July 2008 and the 
commitment of NAS to match fund the proposal, a delivery criteria (Appendix 2) for 
the fair and transparent commissioning of projects has been developed,  ensuring 
that any local projects funded and delivered are based on priorities identified by 
communities, partners and agencies and 
 
- Contribute to Corporate objectives - Through priorities identified in the Annual 

Area Planning Consultation exercise projects will clearly link to the wider 
priorities and objectives of the Rotherham Partnerships Community Strategy, 
the Local Area Agreement and the Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy, 
particularly linking in to the Safe and Proud themes 

 
- Meet external funding requirements 
 
- Deliver against commitments held with the local area master-plans  

 
Process for 2008/09 
 
The financial year for 2008/09 is now into the final quarter and to enable money to be 
spent within the current financial year, it was suggested that spending proposals be 
submitted to the Co-ordinating Group for each Area Assembly and that the Co-
ordinating Groups should then submit to Cabinet for ratification those spending 
proposals which they wish to promote. The Cabinet shall advise the Area Assembly 

Page 2



Co-ordinating Group once it has formally ratified the submitted proposals.  Should 
Cabinet refuse to ratify a proposal, then the reasons for this shall be notified to the 
Co-ordinating Group by the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods. 
 
All the coordinating groups have now met and a table of the suggestions for projects 
from Rotherham South and Wentworth South is attached at Appendix 1. These 
proposals are from the 08/09 financial year and have been aligned to the priorities 
already identified by local communities in the 07/08 Area Plan consultation process. 
 
 8.  Finance 
  

Proposed funding sources for the period 2008/11 include 
 

Local Area Business Growth Initiative (LAGBI) awarded over two years 2008/09 and 
2009/10.  Each Area Assembly to be allocated £100,000 to be spent approximately 
£35,000 in 2008/09 and £65,000 in 2009/10.   

 
Neighbourhoods and Adult Services (NAS) The Neighbourhoods and Adult Services 
Directorate have agreed match funding for 35k per area in 2008/09, 65k per area in 
2009/10 and 25k per area in 2010/11, primarily from the NAS general fund, 
Neighbourhood Pathfinder and Regional Housing and Housing Investment 
programmes to fund a 3-year devolved budget. 
 
9.  Risks and Uncertainties 
 
Risks that the ongoing sustainability of funding Area Assemblies devolved budgets 
will be unstable after LAGBI and HMR funding ceases in 2010. This may result in a 
lack of confidence from the community and partners.  
 
There are additional risks around the delivery of projects which will need to be 
managed. Systems for monitoring the progress of projects are in place as part of the 
governance arrangements to mitigate risks of non delivery.  
 
 
10.  Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 
 
The development of devolved budgets for Area Assemblies has clear linkages with 
the key Corporate Strategic Themes and contributes towards the aims of 
Strategic Objective 1 of the NAS Service Plan 2008-11  
 
To provide integrated local services so that; 
 
- People can exercise choice, retain their independence, be offered protection 

and have equality of access. 
 

- Communities are active and shape local services to meet their characteristics 
and needs. 

 
- Neighborhoods are safe, free from crime and places to be proud of. 

 

Page 3



The development of devolved budgets for Area Assemblies is a key driver in meeting 
element three of the Outcomes Framework - Making a Positive Contribution by 
engaging residents and community groups in discussing and identifying 
community/area/spending priorities and participating in the proposals for the 
development of projects. 
 
11. Background Papers and Consultation 
 
The Community Empowerment White Paper: Communities in Control: Real People, 
Real Power: July 08 
 
Local Government White Paper: Strong and Prosperous Communities 2006 
 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
 
Contact Name: Jan Leyland, Neighbourhood Partnership Team Manager Ext 3103 
 

Page 4



Wentworth South
LAGBI 
Funding 08 09

Project and Project Sponsor Ward Cost Match Funding Strategic  Link Link to Area Plan Timescale Impact
Permanent Seating Area at 
Valley Park - previously 
approved 22.12.08 Coordinating 
Group do not wish to proceed 
with project - replaced with road 
safety project

Valley  £     5,000.00 Proud Community Priority 
3                Improve 
the local 
environment   

Jan 09 - 
Mar 09

Improve the environment in 
terms of general appearance     

Road Safety Project This is a 
pilot project that will be delivered 
in all 20 of the primary schools in 
the Wentworth South Area 
Assembly and Safer 
Neighbourhood Area.

All  £     5,000.00 Safe Community Priority 
3 - link with schools 
on educational and 
preventative work 
on the environment

Jan 09 - Mar 10Raise awareness of road safety 
and address issues of 
dangerous parking outside 
schools.  Improved safety for 
children and reduce the number 
of people using cars to travel to 
school by giving healthy 
alternatives.

Total LAGBI Funding     
Allocated 

£10,000.00

Total LAGBI Funding         
Available

£35,000.00

Unallocated  £   25,000.00 

P
a

g
e
 5



 

 
 
 
1.  Meeting: Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods 

2.  Date: 30th March 2009 

3.  Title: Government announcement on  new measures to 
increase energy efficiency in homes and to combat 
fuel poverty 

4.  Directorate: Neighbourhoods and Adult Services 

 
 
 
5.  Summary  
 
Further to Minute No.98 1st October 2007, Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods 
requested update reports on energy and affordable warmth matters. 
 
The Government recently announced new measures to increase energy efficiency in 
homes and to combat fuel poverty. 
 
This report summarises the £1billion package of energy efficiency measures which 
includes an additional £560m to be made available through carbon energy reduction 
target and £350m through a newly created community obligation on energy suppliers 
and energy generators. 
 
 
 
6.  Recommendations 
 
 
• That Cabinet Member notes the successful energy saving, and affordable 

warmth measures being implemented across the Borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 
Agenda Item 4Page 6



 

 
7. Proposals and Details 

 
The Government has announced 11 new measures to increase energy efficiency in 
homes and to combat fuel poverty via increased investments in Energy Efficiency 
Programmes. 
 
Measure 1 Duty on energy suppliers to promote reductions in carbon 
emissions for households 
 
Carbon Emissions Reduction Target (CERT) is the latest phase of the successful 
Energy Efficiency Commitment (EEC) programme. The programme places a duty on 
energy suppliers to promote reductions in carbon emissions for households in 
England, Scotland and Wales.  
 
The Government look to the energy suppliers to raise the anticipated £560m funding. 
Funding is achieved by levying a fee of £8.45 per gas /electric bill for all customers. 
The energy suppliers use this levy to achieve this reduction in carbon dioxide by 
providing loft and cavity wall insulation at reduced cost. Forty percent of the 
reduction must be made in the homes of “priority group” customers; this is where at 
least one person is over 70 or on qualifying benefits. 

 
In partnership with the South Yorkshire Energy Efficiency Advice Centre, the Council 
has accessed this investment, via the Save N Warm Scheme (now in its 5th year). 
Cavity wall insulation has been provided to 3,984 private sector dwellings at a 
discounted cost to residents of £99, which generates an annual saving of £175/year 
on heating costs. However, as a result of increases in the cost of materials, typical 
cost of installation has risen this year from £99 to £249 for a three bed house; this 
may mean that the energy supply companies may increase the levy charged to 
customers. 
 
Measure 2 Under CERT, a minimum discount of 50% to be made off the price 
of cavity and loft insulation. 

 
CERT also provides funding to improve energy efficiency in council properties. 
Rotherham has received over £3m/over 5 years, for insulation and boiler 
conversions. This work does not involve a tenant contribution or a Council 
contribution unless the dwelling has a cavity of over 100mm, in which case the 
Council pays a fee of £100.  

 
Measure 3 £74m increase in funding for the Warm Front programme 
 
The Warm Front Grant provides a package of insulation and heating improvements 
up to the value of £2,700 (or £4,000 if oil central heating is recommended) to 
households in receipt of benefit. This Government-funded initiative is managed by 
the Energy Action Grants Agency (EAGA).  
 
Rotherham has maximised every opportunity to access this funding and in excess of 
5,700 households have benefited in the last 5 years, receiving insulation or heating 
grants. The South Yorkshire Energy Efficiency Advice centre offers a further £500 

Page 7



 

top up on the maximum available grant for those households that exceed the grant 
maximum. 
 
Measure 4 Increase uptake of direct debit payment of energy bills 
  
The Government will work with energy suppliers to increase the number of people on 
direct debit, as this is cheaper to administer. However, due to the different tariff 
rates, new direct debit customers often find themselves initially in credit with a low 
assessment of monthly payment and unless they monitor their usage, many find that 
they quickly fall into arrears. 
 
The Government has taken this measure in an attempt to encourage regular 
payment and allows for an incentive (£5/year reduction on the bill) to be passed to 
the customer for agreeing to direct debit payment.  
 
Measure 5 Ensure that eligible customers receive the social energy tariff 
 
The Government and energy companies must work to move eligible customers onto 
social tariffs. A Social Tariff applies to customers over 60 who are in receipt of a 
means tested benefit; a typical saving would be 2p-4p per KWh of energy used. The 
degree to which organisations are able to assist with advice about this measure is 
limited, as only the supply company knows which tariff a customer is on. We are 
aware of one energy supplier that is sending letters to older clients to ask them to 
apply for a social tariff however it does not make clear what, if any, savings can be 
achieved.  
 
Measure 6 Eliminate ‘over-charging’ on pre-payment meters 
 
Indicates the Government’s intention to eliminate “overcharging” on pre-payment 
meters. Over charging is a national problem and will have been experienced in the 
Borough. It occurs when the energy company increases the cost per KWh in order to 
recover arrears costs. At change of tenancy, the ingoing tenant carries on paying for 
energy at the falsely high cost. Legislation exists to support this move. 
 
Measure 7 Increase in cold weather payments for the vulnerable 
 
Cold weather payments for the most vulnerable will be increased from £8.50 to £25 a 
week. This payment is triggered, on a regional basis, when the temperature falls 
below 0 degrees for seven consecutive days. No payments were triggered last year. 
 
Measure 8 Launch of £350m Community Energy Saving Programme 
 
The new £350 million Community Energy Saving Programme will be launched in 
around 100 deprived areas (announced February 2009). 
 
The Government is suggesting that for this programme, energy suppliers could use 
Warm Zones to deliver area-based programmes, to target fuel-poor households and 
deliver real benefits through energy efficiency improvements and income 
maximisation. 

Page 8



 

 
Measure 9 Increase in winter fuel payments 
 
Announced changes to the Winter Fuel Payment for 2008/09. The Winter Fuel 
Payment was introduced by the Government in 1997 as a measure to alleviate fuel 
poverty amongst pensioners. Currently, people aged 60-79 receive £200 and people 
aged 80 or over receive £300. For this year only, customers aged 60-79 will receive 
an additional £50 and those aged 80+ £100. 
 
Measure 10 Free loft and cavity insulation for the over 70’s 
 
Customers aged 70+ living in accommodation with little or no insulation will be 
eligible to free loft and cavity wall insulation, regardless of income. This measure 
was launched in advance of the Government announcement (February 08) and this 
Council promoted the scheme through press releases and radio bulletins. 
 
Measure 11 Revoked (related to double glazing) 
 
Initially the Government made an announcement about grants for double glazing 
however this measure has since been revoked. There are no plans at this time to 
introduce measures for glazing. 
 
8. Action Taken in Response to the Measures 
 
The Council makes every opportunity to pursue funding as a result of these 
measures announced. 
 
Through the Neighbourhood Energy Action Scheme, Rotherham, Doncaster and 
Barnsley Councils have secured external funding to support an exciting new initiative 
to tackle fuel poverty within their respective areas.   
 
An area-based approach to target the most vulnerable wards in Rotherham has been 
adopted to deliver a package of measures to address affordable warmth, health, 
comfort and safety.  
 
Four Neighbourhood Energy Officers (NEO’s) are providing a face to face ‘One Stop 
Shop’ service, to address fuel poverty and energy efficiency.  The scheme in 
partnership with the NHS PCT (smoking cessation), Fire and Rescue Services and 
the DWP (pensions) is offering residents:  
 

• Free central heating and insulation for households receiving qualifying 
benefits. (Warm Front funding) 

• Discounted insulation and central heating measures. (CERT funding)  
• Free home energy report including the property energy rating. (Home energy 

checks as provided by the Energy Saving Trust)  
• Free Fire Safety Check including exit plan and free smoke alarms (Hot Spots 

funding) 
• Free advice and practical help to stop smoking (Hot Spots funding delivered 

by the PCT) 
• Free benefits entitlement check for over 60s (Pension service) 

Page 9



 

 
Since September 2008, four thousand residents in Thurcroft and Dinnington have 
been targeted by Neighbourhood Energy Officers. 2,080 properties were visited, 
which resulted in: 
 

• 183 home energy and efficiency advice talks 
• 123 Home Energy Check Questionnaires completed, 
• 34 Loft Insulation referrals, 
• 30 cavity wall insulation referrals, 
• 39, heating grant referrals, 
• 58 fire safety checks, 
• 44 benefit check referrals and 
• 12 smoking cessation referrals. 

  
92 properties in Kiveton and Harthill were visited which resulted in: 
 

• 13 home energy and efficiency advice talks 
• 9 Home Energy Check Questionnaires completed, 
• 18 Loft Insulation referrals, 
• 1 cavity wall insulation referrals, 
• 6 heating grant referrals, 
• 1 fire safety checks, 
• 2 benefit check referrals and 
• 3 smoking cessation referrals. 

 
 
1,070 properties in Maltby, Eastwood, Aston, Aughton, and Swallownest were visited 
which resulted in: 
 

• 144 home energy and efficiency advice talks 
• 77 Home Energy Check Questionnaires completed, 
• 47 Loft Insulation referrals, 
• 25 cavity wall insulation referrals, 
• 25 heating grant referrals, 
• 49 fire safety checks, 
• 19 benefit check referrals and 
• 14 smoking cessation referrals. 

 
 9. Finance 
 
There are no financial implications. However, it should be noted that the limited 
capacity to deal with the increased volume of calls may result in some frustration on 
the part of callers. This situation should it occur will be monitored. 

Page 10



 

 
In 2007/08 No of Borough Households Benefitted 
  
Loft Insulation 545 
Cavity Insulation 783 
Heating Replacement 158 
Total energy efficiency funding levered into the Borough in 2007/08: £1.2m 

 
10. Risks and Uncertainties 
 
These measures are short term and interim solutions to the growing problem of fuel 
poverty and rising fuel prices.  The Council will continue to maximise opportunities to 
lever funding into the Borough’s households in pursuance of the Government target 
to eliminate fuel poverty by 2016. 
 
11.  Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 
 
In line with the  Outcomes Framework, the service provided has a linkage with the 
fourth key line of assessment theme (KLA4) “Exercise of Choice and Control” as it 
enables tenants to have an influence on their environment while promoting 
significant savings that could make a significant difference to a household 
experiencing fuel poverty. 
 
The service provided also links into the second key line of assessment (KLA2) 
‘Improved Quality of Life’ as the service allows people to have greater control over 
their income potentially as the report will better inform them of the energy use of the 
home they choose to buy or rent alleviating fuel poverty. 

• Improving health and emotional well being [1] 
• Improved quality of life [2] 
• Increased choice and control [4] 

 
11. Background Papers and Consultation   
 
Government Briefing Paper 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact Name: Paul Maplethorpe - Senior Home Energy Officer Ext 6568 
paul.maplethorpe@rotherham.gov.uk 

Page 11



 
 

 
 
1.  Meeting:- CABINET MEMBER FOR NEIGHBOURHOODS 

2.  Date:- 30th March 2009  

3.  Title:- Variation on Under Age Sales Test Purchasing 
Procedures 

4.  Directorate:- Neighbourhoods and Adult Services 

 
 
 
 
5.  Summary 
 
This report sets out the current practices for under age sales test purchasing and a 
recommendation for variance to that practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.  Recommendations 
 

• That the proposal to deviate from the LACORS Guidance on Underage 
Sales test purchases be approved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 
Agenda Item 5Page 12



7.  Proposals and Details 
 
In April 2006, the Local Authorities Co-ordinators of Regulatory Services (LACORS) 
issued a practical guide for those organisations involved in the conduct of test 
purchasing operations involving young people and the sale of age-restricted 
products.  This Guidance is attached in Appendix 1 
 
Under paragraph 3.4, the guidance indicates that: 
 

“For routine test purchase operations, the young person must be told 
to answer any questions that the seller may ask about their age 
truthfully” 
 

However it goes on to say that: 
 

“In exceptional circumstances, the Local Authority may consider 
whether it is appropriate to undertake test purchase operations 
where the young person is instructed not to answer truthfully any 
questions relating to their age posed by the seller. 
“This may be considered in cases where the Local Authority has 
credible evidence for example from Police, Community Safety 
Wardens, CCTV, covert surveillance or other credible and identifiable 
source, that a specific premises is selling age restricted products to 
young persons that are underage AND that the action of the seller is 
always to ask the young person their age.  Given that the test 
purchasers will answer truthfully, the seller avoids making a sale 
whereas, had the young person not answered truthfully a different 
outcome may have ensued. 
“In such circumstances, where it is clear that illegal sales are taking 
place and that the seller is not taking all reasonable steps to avoid 
the commission of the offence, the Local Authority may determine 
that this course of action is appropriate in order to prove breaches of 
the legislation and ultimately to gain compliance with the legislation.” 

 
During test purchases an officer stands behind the young person in the queue for 
the till to observe any evidence in relation to the test purchase.  During recent test 
purchasing exercises, on more than one different occasion, officers have been told 
by the retailer that the retailers are aware they have just been tested as they know 
that the child tells the truth during a test purchase operation.  The retailers were not 
aware of the identity of the person they were speaking to. 
 
There is no evidence that these retailers would have sold should the child have lied 
about their age, however it provides worrying evidence that the procedure for test 
purchasing operations is generally known and, should a retailer be blatantly flouting 
the law, then they will use this to their advantage.  Also, asking the child their age is 
not considered sufficient to prove due diligence defence should a case be taken to 
court.  Trading Standards always recommend retailers request PASS approved 
proof of age cards to ascertain age where they are uncertain as to the age of the 
purchaser. 
 

Page 13



Test purchase exercises are not used to catch retailers out.  The volunteers used 
are checked to make sure they do not look over the age restriction of the object 
being purchased to give the retailer every opportunity to pass.  The point of the 
exercises is to ensure that retailers maintain their high standards and refuse the sale 
of age restricted products to children under the relevant age.  Advice and guidance 
is available from Trading Standards on request or after initial test purchase failures 
as the aim is to reduce the access of age restricted products to persons under the 
relevant age, not to prosecute traders. 
 
Following on from the above, it is requested that Cabinet approve a move away from 
the guidance to allow test purchasers to routinely lie about their age when 
questioned by retailers.  This would lead to a more realistic test purchase situation. 
 
8.  Finance 
 
There are no financial implications to this report 
 
9.  Risks and Uncertainties 
 
There is a risk to council in approving the recommendation in that challenges may be 
made in court that the LACORS Guidance has not been followed.  As has been 
mentioned previously however, the guidance does provide for variations to the 
procedure in exceptional circumstances.  Any risk to the council can therefore be 
minimised by ensuring that the variation to the procedure is only adopted in the 
circumstances described in the guidance. 
 
10.  Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 
 
Under Age Sales enforcement covers a wide range of products including Alcohol, 
Tobacco, Solvents, Petrol, Fireworks, etc., relating to the ALIVE theme through 
improved health and the SAFE theme through reduction of anti-social behaviour.  It 
also impacts on the cross cutting themes of FAIRNESS and SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT by reducing inequalities of trade between premises complying with 
the law and those not complying. 
 
Under the Outcome Framework, underage sales enforcement contributes to 
IMPROVED HEALTH AND EMOTIONAL WELL-BEING as well as IMPROVED 
QUALITY OF LIFE, through protection of children from harm and reduction of anti-
social behaviour.  
 
11. Background Papers and Consultation 
 
 
Appendix 1 - LACORS Guidance – A Practical Guide to Test Purchasing 
 
 
Contact Name: Alan Pogorzelec, Business Regulation Manager, 01709 823104, 
alan.pogorzelec@rotherham.gov.uk 

Page 14



A PRACTICAL GUIDE TO
TEST PURCHASING

A practical guide for those organisations involved in the 
conduct of test purchasing operations involving young people 
and the sale of age-restricted products     

Date of issue: April 2006 

Page 15



2

Page 16



3

Contents .............................................................................................................  2 

Foreword and Summary of main changes ......................................................  3 

Section 1 - Introduction ....................................................................................  4 

Section 2 - Overview  ........................................................................................  5 

Section 3 - Operational Considerations ...........................................................  6 - 9  

 3.1  Risk Assessments and Criminal Records Bureau checks  
 3.2  Selection of Young People  

 3.3 Welfare of Young People  
 3.4  Briefing of the Young Person 
 3.5  Definition of Child and Employment issues 
 3.6  Working with other agencies     

Section 4 - Legal requirements & Considerations ..........................................  10 - 12 

 4.1 Evidence from Young People  
 4.2  Test Purchasing and CHIS  
 4.3  Entrapment and the Gathering Evidence 
 4.4 Appeal Cases 

4.5 Enterprise Act                    
             

ANNEX 1 - Legislation .......................................................................................  13  

ANNEX 2 - Standard Risk Assessment document – example ......................  14 - 16 

ANNEX 3 - Agreement Form .............................................................................   17 

ANNEX 4 – Consent Form .................................................................................    18-19 

ANNEX 5 - Letter from Home Office Covert Investigation Policy Team ........    20-22
FOREWORD TO THE GUIDE 

The original Code of Practice for test purchasing was published in 2002; it was an attempt 
to bring together the practice of the day and updated the original Home Office guidance 
contained in circular 17/1992.

Changes in particular to the alcohol licensing legislation have prompted a significant 
growth in the number of test purchase operations carried out by some Local Authorities 
and has also encouraged partnership working with other organisations, most notably, the 
Police. Other significant changes include an increase in the availability and use of Proof of 
Age Cards by young people, which again has an impact upon the nature of test purchase 
operations. There have also been a number of decided legal cases in this area.

The Guide brings together current thinking and practice and seeks to establish a 
benchmark for future operations.

Page 17



4

The use of this Practical Guide to Test Purchasing is endorsed by the Home Office and 
the Trading Standards Institute. 

This Guidance applies to England and Wales. Separate but linked guidance will apply in 
Scotland.

SUMMARY OF MAIN CHANGES

For ease of reference, the main changes to the original 2002 code are outlined below:

I. “Under age” means any age up to the age at which sales are permitted for 
the product by the legislation;

II. Under certain circumstances , young people may be employed and 
therefore paid for their participation in the operation;

III. In limited exceptional circumstances ,  young people may be permitted to 
answer untruthfully about their age when attempting a test purchase; 

IV. It is recommended that Officers are checked by the Criminal Records 
Bureau prior to participating;

V. It is recommended that Risk Assessments are carried out ; especially 
where test purchase operations are made at on-license premises;  

VI. Covert equipment may be used. Subject to risk assessment, it is not 
essential for an officer to be present in the premises ;

VII. Inclusion of updated information relating to Covert Human Intelligence 
Sources (CHIS). 

Page 18



5

SECTION 1

1. INTRODUCTION  

1.1 Local authorities have responsibility for the enforcement of legislation relating to 
the sale of age-restricted products such as tobacco, alcohol, knives and 
fireworks.

  The participation of young people in test purchasing operations forms a valuable 
part of the local authority strategy designed to assess and maintain compliance 
with the legislation that deals with age restricted products (see Annex 1). 

 Test Purchase operations are designed to complement the overall enforcement 
programme dealing with age restricted sales and should not be viewed in 
isolation.

         Increased compliance with age restricted legislation serves to protect the 
health, safety and welfare of young people and the communities in which they 
live and helps to prevent anti-social behaviour.  

1.2  The Guide will be maintained on the LACORS website. Local Authorities will be      
advised of any amendments via email notification. The Guide will be regularly 
reviewed to take account of legal developments and updated practices 
employed by local authorities.  

Page 19



6

SECTION 2

2. OVERVIEW

2.1 Many Local Authorities have adopted test purchase operations as a part of their 
overall strategy to assess and improve compliance with legislation that controls 
the sale and supply of age restricted products. Other activities undertaken by 
Local Authorities to promote and / or improve compliance include:

 Carrying out programmes of education by means of publicity, business 
seminars, production of guidance material, visits, inspections  etc; 

 Implementation of Proof of Age Schemes, many of which are now PASS1

accredited.

2.2 It is acknowledged that decisions around specific enforcement policies and 
actions will necessarily reflect local needs and priorities. This Guide is intended 
as a basis to assist in such local decision making. LACORS expects that all 
enforcement activities should be reasonable and proportionate given the 
circumstances and that the actions are undertaken in order to secure 
compliance with the legislation.

                                           
1
 “PASS” refers to the Proof of Age Standards Scheme which seeks to accredit legitimate Proof of Age 

schemes that meet established criteria  

Page 20



7

SECTION 3

3. OPERATIONAL CONSIDERATIONS   
3.1 Risk Assessments and Criminal Records Bureau (CRB) checks

 Local authorities that wish to carry out test purchase operations involving young 
people should have regard to current practice and the principles of risk 
assessment.  These should be carried out in accordance with the Local 
Authorities own procedures in respect of health and safety. 

This will be of particular relevance where operations are planned in “on-licence” 
premises.

An example of a ‘standard’ risk assessment that authorities may wish to 
undertake may be found at Annex 2 to this Guide. It is a matter for each Local 
Authority to determine how such an assessment is made.

Depending upon the outcome of any risk assessment, a decision may be made 
concerning the need, or otherwise, to have an officer/s present within the 
premises with the young person at the time of the attempted purchase.

There may be occasions where the nature of the business premises precludes 
the presence of an officer, for example the premises may be too small to 
accommodate an Officer without drawing undue attention to themselves

Where there is no Officer within the premises, other means must be provided to 
ensure that communication with the young person is possible; this may be by 
means of mobile phone for example. It may also be desirable for such attempts 
to be recorded, the use therefore of covert equipment is deemed appropriate 
but not essential.

Nothing in this Guide precludes the use of more than one young person in a test 
purchase operation if, in the opinion of the Authority , this increases the security 
of the young persons within a premises and presents a more realistic setting for 
the operation to take place.

It is recommended that all officers undertaking work with children and young 
persons complete a standard disclosure as prescribed by the Criminal Records 
Bureau – commonly known as a CRB check. Local Authority Social Services or 
Human Resource staff should be able to assist with this process. 

3.2 Selection of Young People 

 Local authorities must ensure that the young person and their parent(s)/carer(s) 
are fully conversant with the nature of the test purchase operation and the 
possible outcomes where any illegal sale is made. 

a) Participation may be on a voluntary basis or paid but must have the 
consent of the young person and his/her parent(s) or carer(s) – see note 
on employment in section 3.5. 

Page 21



8

b) The parent/carer of the young person must fully understand the nature of 
the task involved and give their written consent and example of standard 
documentation is provided at Annex 3 & 4.

c)  Volunteers may be sought from any source, for example, the relatives of 
Local Authority staff, local youth groups, schools or police cadets see also 
section on employment below. If, in the opinion of the Officer a young 
person appears to be over-eager to take part and to obtain a purchase, 
they should be rejected for the purposes of that operation

Whilst the actual age of the young person selected is a matter for each 
Local Authority to determine within the context of the particular operation 
the young person must be younger than the age stated for the purchase of 
the particular product for example, for a test purchase of cigarette lighter 
refills, the young person must be less than 18 year old.  

d) The young person must not look older than their age. It is acknowledged 
that child development is not an exact science; however, the young person 
should be representative of their age group.

A useful test may be drawn from Section 146 the Licensing Act 2003 
where part of the defence states “nobody could reasonably have 
suspected from the individual's appearance that he was aged under 18”. If 
therefore a reasonable person assesses the age of the test purchaser to 
be below that stipulated for the product being tested then the young person 
will be deemed to be suitable for the operation. 

(Note the provisions of the Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985 
where in addition to the age restriction imposed, for the offence to be 
proved the seller must know that the product is to be used to intoxication 
and inhalation purposes).

Consideration should also be given to the clothing, jewellery and makeup 
worn by the young person. The purpose is to replicate as far as possible 
reality, therefore, within reason, the young person should be permitted to 
wear their normal clothing for visiting the particular establishment under 
test. For example, if the operation involves an on licensed premises, it may 
be normal practice for the young person to wear make up and jewellery. 
Nothing in this guide advocates that the young person should make a 
deliberate attempt to make themselves look older than they are.  

e) Where the test purchase operation is for the purpose of obtaining evidence 
for potential legal proceedings, then at the outset, proof of the age of the 
young person must be obtained. This may be in the form of the birth 
certificate produced by their parent or guardian, or by evidence of 
photographic ID such as a Passport, Driving Licence or PASS accredited 
Proof of Age Card.

Page 22



9

3.3 Welfare of Young People involved in Test Purchase Operations

The welfare of the young person involved in the test purchase operation is 
paramount, to assist with an interpretation of what this means reference may be 
made to :

The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (International Treaty) has 
been ratified by the UK Government and provides the rights and welfare 
principles specifically for children.  

Of particular relevance is Article 3 which provides that:

 “The best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration in all actions 
concerning children, and administrative measures shall be appropriate to 
ensure each child such protection and care as is necessary for his or her 
wellbeing, taking into account the rights and responsibilities of his or her parents 
or guardians. Institutions, services and facilities responsible for the care and 
protection of children shall conform with the established standards, particularly 
for safety, health, the number and suitability of staff, and competent supervision” 

In particular: 

a) If at any time during the operation the young person indicates that he/she 
does not wish to continue, or he/she show signs of distress, the operation 
must be halted immediately

b) If, whilst in the care of the officer the young person is injured or suffers loss 
or damage to his/her property, the incident must be reported to the 
parent/guardian and the appropriate Local Authority senior officer without 
delay.

3.4  Briefing of the young person  

 The test purchase will, as far as possible, be made in the same manner as a 
 member of the public would seek to make a purchase, however there are some 
 particular considerations that must be applied to test purchasing operations and 
 thus the young person must be trained prior to any operation taking place:   

a) They must be told as far as is reasonably possible exactly what to say and 
what not to say;    

b) For routine test purchase operations, the young person must be told to 
answer any questions that the seller may ask about their age truthfully;

c) In exceptional circumstances, the Local Authority may consider whether it 
is appropriate to undertake test purchase operations where the young 
person is instructed not to answer truthfully any questions relating to their 
age posed by the seller.

 This may be considered in cases where the Local Authority has credible 
 evidence for example from Police, Community Safety Wardens, CCTV, 
 covert surveillance or other credible and identifiable source, that a 

Page 23



10

 specific premises is selling age restricted products to young persons that 
 are underage AND that the action of the seller is always to ask the young 
 person their age. Given that test purchasers will answer truthfully, the 
 seller avoids making a sale whereas, had the young person not 
 answered truthfully a different outcome may have ensued.   

 In such exceptional circumstances, where it is clear that illegal sales are 
 taking place and that the seller is not taking all reasonable steps to avoid 
 the commission of the offence , the Local Authority may determine that this 
 course of action is appropriate in order to prove breaches of the legislation 
 and ultimately to gain compliance with the legislation .   

 If a Local Authority determines that alternative action is required for a 
 particular premise, then a risk assessment must be carried out and the 
 reasons for the decision must be documented;

d)  It is not recommended that the young person produce their own genuine 
PASS accredited Proof of Age card or other such document if they are 
asked to produce it by the seller. This may reveal the identity of the young 
person to the seller which is not desirable  . The young person should be 
instructed to state that “I don’t have it with me“ or some other similar  
phrase. Young people should not use fake Proof of Age cards;

e)  If the initial request to purchase a product/s is refused, the young person 
must be told not to attempt to persuade or coerce the seller to make a sale. 
They should leave the premises and return to a predetermined location. 

3.5 Definition of Child and Employment

The Education Act 1996, Section 558 defines a child as “any person who is not 
over the compulsory school age” thus any person under the age of 16 years and 
still in full time education is deemed to be a child.  It follows therefore that where 
the young person is deemed to be a child, their involvement in test purchase 
operations is not considered to be employment by virtue of the Children and 
Young Persons Act 1933, Section 30(1). Such a child may not be in the paid 
employment of the Local Authority.

Where the young person involved in the test purchase operation is over 16 
years of age and has ceased full time education they may be employed and 
paid by the Local Authority for the purposes of the operation.

Note: Regard should be had to the Working Time Regulations 1998. A young 
worker is defined as someone who has attained the age of 15 years but not 18 
years and is over compulsory school age (Education Act 1996), such young 
workers may work and be paid for up to 8 hours a day and up to 40 hours per 
week.

Consideration should be given at the planning stage of test purchase operations 
to the hours that are worked by the young person whether they are employed or 
not, particularly where visits are to be made to licensed premises where the 

Page 24



11

opening hours may be later than those of non-licensed premises. This should 
be agreed with the parents/carer.

Nothing in this Guide precludes an authority from paying reasonable expenses 
to any young person engaged in assisting an Authority with test purchase 
operations. This may include travel, subsistence and a gratuity (for example a 
voucher or token) to the young person.

3.6 Working with other agencies  

It is recognised that whilst the majority of test purchase operations are carried 
out by Local Authority Trading Standards Services staff, there may be 
occasions when other agencies are involved, notably, but not exclusively, the 
police and employees of the National Lottery operator.

Where joint operations are planned, it is recommended that a memorandum of 
understanding is agreed between the organisations at the outset such that roles 
and responsibilities are clear. It is further recommended that the partner 
organisations agree to the use of this Guide as the standard to be adhered to 
for the operation.

SECTION 4

4. LEGAL REQUIREMENTS & CONSIDERATIONS   

4.1 Evidence from young people

Consideration should be given at the outset to the likelihood of the operation 
giving rise to legal proceedings being instituted by the Local Authority (or the 
Police). It is recommended that the operation be organised in such as way as to 
avoid the young person being called as a witness. As a general principle a 
witness statement need not be taken from the young person. The evidence of 
any sale will be provided by the officers where they accompany the young 
person whilst he/she attempts to make a purchase.

4.2 Test Purchasing and CHIS

The Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA), the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA) regulate use of undercover officers by the police and other 
enforcement agencies, for test purchasing or other functions.

Part II of RIPA provide a statutory basis to safeguard against challenges under 
Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR).  They create a 
system of authorisations for various types of surveillance and the conduct and 
use of covert human intelligence sources (CHIS).   

A young person will be acting as a CHIS or ‘source’ under section 26(8) of RIPA 
if he/she: 

a) Establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a person for 
the covert purpose of facilitating the doing of anything falling within 
paragraph (b) or (c); 

Page 25



12

b) Covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or to provide access 
to any information to another person; 

c) Covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a relationship or 
as a consequence of the existence of such a relationship. 

There are therefore unlikely to be RIPA implications where a young person is 
used to carry out a test purchase from retail premises, as the young person 
does not establish or maintain any relationship with the seller.  

This is clarified further in a letter dated 17 December 2004 written by Simon 
Watkin of the Home Office Covert Investigation Policy Team:  A full copy of the 
letter may be found at Annex 5 to this guide.

The guidance relates to the authorisation and tasking of minors undertaking 
retail test purchasing and the legal basis for their conduct and that of their 
handlers.

It is particularly worth noting that: "Ultimately only the courts can interpret 
legislation with any authority. However it is the view of the Home Office that, in 
the majority of instances, alcohol test purchasing by persons under 18 years of 
age is not conduct to which Part II of RIPA need be applied. Any use of persons 
aged under 18 to make test purchases must nonetheless be subject to risk 
assessment and must take account of the safety and welfare of the child." 

   
Whilst the young person is therefore not deemed to be a CHIS, it may still be 
considered good practice to follow the requirements of the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers (Juveniles) Order 2000 (SI 2000 no. 2793) (RIP(J)O) i.e. 
to ensure that: 

 The safety and welfare of the young person child has been fully 
considered;

 The officer is satisfied that any risk has been properly explained to, and 
understood by the young person; and 

 A risk assessment has been undertaken, covering the physical dangers 
and the moral and psychological aspect of the young persons deployment. 

 A record is kept of the operation

4.3 Entrapment and the Gathering of Evidence etc.

Entrapment in relation to the conduct of a test purchase operation must be 
considered by those seeking to gather evidence of offences. This is of particular 
relevance for example where the matter of a young person lying about their age 
as part of the test purchase operation is considered ( see section 3.4) .     
   
In the light of the ECHR, HRA, RIPA, together with section 78 PACE  which 
deals with the circumstances in which evidence is obtained and its effect on the 
fairness or otherwise of any proceedings, those involved in the planning and 
conducting of test purchasing exercises will need to have regard to: 

Page 26



13

a) The avoidance of inciting, instigating, persuading, pressurising or 
wheedling a person into committing an offence that, otherwise, would not 
have been committed;

b) The requirements for gathering/retaining relevant, admissible and sufficient 
evidence – an “unassailable” record of events – in order to prove the 
commission of an offence and to ensure that a fair trial takes place; 

c) The necessity of ensuring that any interference with the right to privacy, of 
any person affected by the activity, is lawful; in particular the need for 
public authorities to consider whether it is conduct which could be 
authorised under RIPA; 

d) Other specific issues, such as legislative provisions (e.g. section 149(2) of 
the Licensing Act 2003 where a test purchase of alcohol by a person under 
eighteen years of age must be at the request of a constable or an inspector 
of weights and measures). 

4.4 Appeal Cases

 There have been a number of appeal cases concerning test purchase 
operations including: 

 Texeira de Castro V Portugal (1998) 28 EHRR 101 

 Tesco Stores Limited v Brent LBC [1993] 2 All ER 718 

 Hereford and Worcester County Council v T & S Stores Plc (1994) 93 LGR 
98

 LB of Ealing v Woolworths Plc [1995] Crim LR 58 

 R v Loosley Attorney Generals Ref.(No3 of 2000) [2002] 1 UKHL 53

 City of Sunderland Council v Dawson (CO/4130/2004) 

 Davies v Carmarthenshire County Council [2005] EWHC 464  

Note: Domestic law on the subject has been shaped by these cases based on 
the rules for excluding evidence, in particular, section 78 of the Police and 
Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) - and the power to stay proceedings as an 
abuse of process. 

4.5 Enterprise Act 2002 

Local Authorities may wish to consider the appropriateness of using 
Enforcement Orders to prevent the ongoing sale of age restricted products to 
those that are under age. These may be sought in respect of the following age 
restricted products and illegal under age sales:  

 Children and Young Persons Act 1933 &1991 

 Firework Safety Regulations 1997 / Act 2003  

 National Lottery Act 1993 

 Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985 

Page 27



ANNEX 1 – Current Age Restricted Legislation 

Product  Age  Legislation   Penalty  

Aerosol Paints 16 Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 (S.54) Level 4 Fine 

Air Weapons
1
 17 Firearms Act 1968 (S24) Level 3 Fine and /or 6 months imprisonment  

Alcohol 18 Licensing Act 2003 (S.146 & S.147) Level 5 Fine 

Cigarette Lighter refills 18 Cigarette Lighter Refill (Safety) Regulations 1999 (Reg.2) and 
Consumer Protection Act 1987 

Level 5 Fine and/or 6 months imprisonment 

Crossbows
2
 17 Crossbows Act 1987 (S.1)  Level 3 Fine and /or 6 months imprisonment 

Fireworks (excluding party 
poppers, caps etc) 

18 Fireworks (Safety) Regulations 1997 (Reg.6) 
Fireworks Act 2003 

Level 5 Fine and/or 6 months imprisonment 

Knives
3
 16 Criminal Justice Act 1988 (S.141A) as amended by Offensive 

Weapons Act 1996 
Level 5 Fine and/or 6 months imprisonment 

Liqueur Confectionery  16 Licensing Act 2003 (S.148) Level 2 Fine  

Lottery products 16 National Lottery Act 1993 (S.13) and National Lottery Regulations 
1994

Level 5 Fine and/or 2 years Imprisonment 

Party Poppers, caps 
4
 etc. 16 Explosives Act (S.31) 

Health & Safety at Work Act 1974    
Level 5 fine if in magistrates court or, unlimited if taken 
to crown court 

Pet Animals
5
 12 Pet Animals Act 1951 ( S.3)  Level 2 Fine and/or 3 months imprisonment 

Petroleum 16 Petroleum Consolidation Act 1928 Level 5 fine if in magistrates court or, unlimited if taken 
to crown court 

Solvents 18 Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985 (S.1) Level 5 and/or 6 months imprisonment 

Tattoos 18 Tattooing of Minors Act 1969 (S.1) Level 3 Fine 

Tobacco
6
 16 Children and Young Persons Act 1933 (S.7) Level 4 Fine  

Videos, DVD and some 
computer/video games 

12,
15 & 
18

Video Recordings Act 1984 (S.11) amended 1993 Level 5 Fine and/or 
6 months imprisonment 

Criminal Justice Act 1982  
Maximum level of Fines applicable  
Level 1 = £200   Level 3 = £1000  Level 5 = £5000 
Level 2 = £500  Level 4 = £2500   

                                           
1
 Will be increased to 18 when amended by the Violent Crime Reduction Bill 

2
 Will be increased to 18 when amended by the Violent Crime Reduction Bill 

3
 Will be increased to 18 when amended by the Violent Crime Reduction Bill   

4
 Dti almost certain to raise age to 18   

5
 Will be increased to 16 when amended by the Animal Welfare Bill – autumn 2006  

6
 Subject to consultation as of spring 2006 MAY rise to 18 years  

P
a

g
e
 2

8



15

ANNEX 2 – STANDARD RISK ASSESSMENT DOCUMENT – an Example 

Risk Assessment for Test Purchase Operations 

Risk:   High – Stop activity until controls in place/ review action required urgently 
Medium - Tolerable risk but monitoring is required to ensure the controls are maintained 
Low – The risk is broadly acceptable  

TASK STEP HAZARD

DESCRIPTION

HAZARD

CAUSE

HAZARD

CONSEQUENCE

CURRENT 

CONTROLS

FR1 SEV2 RISK STATUS OF 

CURRENT 

CONTROL

RECOMMENDATIONS LA

CONTROLS

Inviting
young
persons to 
assist with 
test
purchasing

Personal data 
collected about 
young persons 
being handled 
insensitively 

Information
left lying 
around the 
office

Confidential
information about 
young persons being 
divulged

Nominated
officer has 
responsibility for 
collecting data 
which is 
recorded on pro-
forma sheet. 
Sheets kept 
locked away in 
cupboard.

L L L Adequate 

Assessment 
of young 
persons
suitability for 
test
purchasing

Officer will need to 
make personal 
contact with child. 
Opportunity for a 
potential abuser to 
single out a young 
person for 
‘grooming’.

Direct
contact
needed with 
young
person to 
assess
suitability

Young person could 
be abused 

Officer will visit 
young person in 
presence of 
parent or 
guardian.
Officer will have 
current CRB 
check.
Arrangements to 
visit young 
person always 
made with 
parent/
guardian.

L H L Adequate Team leader will review 
assessments and 
check that 
parent/guardian were 
present

                                           
1
 Frequency  

2
 Severity

P
a
g
e
 2

9



16

Arranging
test
purchasing
session with 
young
person

Officer will speak 
direct to young 
person and 
arrange a time and 
date of collection 
from home 

Parent/guardian of 
young person not 
aware of their 
whereabouts.

Arrangements
always made with 
parent/
guardian

L M L Adequate 

Collection of 
young
person for 
test
purchasing
session.

Young person 
becomes the 
responsibility of TS 
Staff

Parent/guardian of 
young person not 
aware of their 
whereabouts.

Parent/
guardian must 
always witness the 
young person being 
collected.

L H L Adequate If parent/guardian not 
available, test-purchasing 
session cancelled. 
Officer will take contact 
number of parent/guardian 
and give estimate of time that 
young person to be returned 
and check that proposed 
time is acceptable to both 
young person and 
parent/guardian. 

Officer and 
young
person
alone

Officers may be 
left alone with 
young person 
while transporting, 
waiting to do 
purchase or after 
attempted
purchase

Risk of allegation of 
abuse to young 
person

There are always 2 
officers with the 
young person at all 
times.
At least one (but 
normally both) 
officers are CRB 
checked

L H M Adequate One of the officers must 
normally be of the same sex 
as the young person. 
3 officers required for test 
purchase sessions. 
CRB checks administered by 
Projects Team Leader – 
checks renewed every 3 
years.
Any allegations made by 
young person to be 
immediately reported to 
Team Leader. 

During visit, 
young
person left 
alone
outside retail 
premises

Young person left 
unsupervised

Young person could 
be exposed to 
danger

2 officers always to 
be used – one enters 
retail premises prior 
to young person and 
the other waiting just 
outside after 
escorting young 
person to just 
outside.

L H M Adequate Young person always 
accompanied when crossing 
roads.

Rendezvous point outside 
shop agreed with young 
person by officer waiting 
outside.

P
a

g
e
 3

0



17

Young
person
attempts test 
purchase.

During test 
purchase,
purchase refused 
and retailer 
becomes abusive 
or threatening to 
young person 

Retailer
angry with 
young
person

Young person could 
be exposed to 
danger

One officer 
always in retail 
premises in 
close proximity 
to young person 
and able to 
intervene if 
necessary

L H M Adequate Young person always 
instructed that if anything 
goes wrong, to leave 
premises immediately. 
Officer 2 will always be 
waiting just outside. 

Young person will not work in 
area where they live, attend 
school or regularly visit.

Matters
arising while 
young
person in 
care of TSS 

Sudden illness Inadequate 
knowledge of 
young
person’s
personal
details

Personal injury Details of 
allergies, health 
conditions and 
current
medication
obtained from 
parent/guardian

L H M Adequate Contact number for 
parent/guardian held during 
visits 

Court action Young person 
required to appear 
in Court

Not guilty 
plea entered 

Stress and anxiety 
caused to young 
person

Young person 
fully supported 
throughout and 
not forced to 
attend Court if 
unhappy

L H M Adequate If young person is unable to 
face Court, removed from 
test purchasing list 

.

P
a
g
e
 3

1



18

ANNEX 3

AGREEMENT WITH PARENT/CARER, YOUNG PERSON AND THE LOCAL  
AUTHORITY FOR TEST PURCHASING 

The purpose of this agreement is to ensure that the parent/carer and young person are aware of 
what the local authority officers intend to do and what safeguards will be used.  

i. The young person will be fully trained in what to say and do.  The young persons parent/carer 
may attend the training session(s).  The young person will be told to tell the truth about their 
age unless previously agreed that the operation is deemed “exceptional “ .    

ii. At least one officer will supervise the young person at all times.  

iii. The young person will not be asked to make test purchases in any areas where he/she is likely 
to be recognised.  

iv. In any exercise, the young person’s welfare is paramount.  The nature of the young person’s 
involvement in the exercise will not be revealed whilst they are on the premises, unless the 
officer is of the opinion that their welfare is at risk.   

The officer will intervene at any time where the young person’s welfare is at risk.

v. The young person’s identity will not be revealed by the local authority in any subsequent 
publicity.

vi. Payment may be made where the young person is employed by the Local Authority, otherwise 
no payments will be made for this assistance, but appropriate refreshments and travelling 
expenses will be provided.

vii. This exercise may result in legal action.  

viii. The local authority will endeavour to ensure that the young person will not be required to attend 
court as a witness.  However, in exceptional circumstances, this may still occur.  

ix. The parent/carer will provide a witness statement to confirm the date of birth of the young 
person, if required.

I have read and understood the above

Signed: ..........................................................................   (Parent/Carer)

Signed: ..........................................................................   (Officer in charge of exercise) 

Signed: ..........................................................................   (Young Person) 

Date: ...............................................   

Contact details of senior local authority officer  

Name: ......................................................    Position: ...................................................  

Telephone number(s): .....................................................................................................

Page 32



19

ANNEX 4

PROVISION OF ASSISTANCE BY YOUNG PERSON TO THE
LOCAL AUTHORITY: PARENTAL & YOUNG PERSON CONSENT FORM 

Name of young person :  

Date of birth: Male/Female:

Address of young person :  

Nature of exercise:  

Date and time of collection of young person and address (if different from 
above):

Date and time of return of young person and address (if different from above):  

Daytime contact point for young person during above dates:  

Alternative daytime contact point for young person during above dates:  

Areas in which test purchasing exercise will take place:  

Page 33



20

Areas to be avoided (e.g. areas where the young person is likely to be recognised):  

Any special dietary/medical needs etc.: 

I (name of parent/carer) ............................................................................................. am the 
parent/carer of the above-mentioned young person and I agree that he/she will be available to 
assist the local authority as detailed above.  I have discussed the details of this operation with 
(officer’s name) .......................................................................................................... 

Signed: .............................................................................  (Parent/Carer)

Signed: .............................................................................  (Officer in charge of operation)

Signed: .............................................................................  (Young person)

Date: ..................................................

Page 34



21

ANNEX 5 - LETTER FROM HOME OFFICE COVERT INVESTIGATION POLICY TEAM

Mr Derek Allen 
Chief Executive 
LACORS
10 Albert Embankment 
London
SEI 7SP 

Dear Mr Allen, 

ALCOHOL MISUSE ENFORCEMENT CAMPAIGN II:
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA) AND RETAIL TEST 
PURCHASING

With the second Alcohol Misuse Enforcement Campaign starting on 17 December, I am 
writing to you in your capacity as Chief Executive of LACORS to offer guidance on an 
issue that arose from this summer’s campaign.  It relates to the authorisation and tasking 
of minors undertaking retail test purchasing and the legal basis for their conduct and that 
of their handlers. 

Various operational policies and procedures have been adopted by police service basic 
command units (BCUs) and trading standards departments undertaking test purchases for 
the purpose of determining whether or not the provisions of section 169 of the Licensing 
Act 1964 are being complied with. 

Some BCUs and trading standards departments have authorised children undertaking test 
purchases as covert human intelligence sources under section 29 of RIPA.  Some have 
done that and also authorised directed surveillance under section 28 of RIPA to cover the 
conduct of an accompanying officer.  Anecdotally, one BCU is said to have authorised as 
directed surveillance the conduct of an officer standing outside retail premises whilst the 
child test purchaser and an adult handler, also both subject of RIPA authorities, were 
inside.  Equally some BCUs and trading standards departments have undertaken test 
purchases without RIPA authorisation or not undertaken test purchasing because of a 
perceived requirement for RIPA authorisation. 

Covert Investigation Policy Team

Crime Reduction and Community Safety Group
50 Queen Anne's Gate, London SW1H 9AT 

Switchboard 0870 000 1585   Fax 020 7273 3250   Direct Line 020 7273 2181 

E-mail simon.watkin@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk 

Our Ref  

Your Ref

Date  14 December 2004

Page 35



22

The Code of Practice providing guidance on the authorisation of the use or conduct of 
covert human intelligence sources, made under section 71 of RIPA, includes the following 
advice:

4.29 In some instances, the tasking given to a person will not require the source 
to establish a personal or other relationship for a covert purpose. … Alternatively, a 
trading standards officer may be involved in the test purchase of items which have 
been labelled misleadingly or are unfit for consumption.  In such cases, it is for the 
relevant public authority to determine where, and in what circumstances, such 
activity may require authorisation [emphasis added] 

The reference to a trading standards officer can equally be read as a reference to a police 
officer or to a test purchaser aged under 18 years acting at the request of a constable 
under section 149(2) of the Licensing Act 2003.  Equally the under age test purchase may 
be made in accordance with the provisions of the Licensing Act 1964 as amended by 
section 31 of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001.

Ultimately only the courts can interpret legislation with any authority.  However it is the 
view of the Home Office that, in the majority of instances, alcohol test purchasing by 
persons under 18 years of age is not conduct to which Part II of RIPA need be applied.  
Any use of persons aged under 18 to make test purchases must nonetheless be subject to 
risk assessment and must take account of the safety and welfare of the child. 

I am aware of the practice adopted by a number of agencies whereby a letter was sent to 
all local licensees in advance of AMEC I notifying them that test purchasing exercises 
would take place.  To that extent the conduct of test purchasing is an overt exercise and 
due notice has been given to licensees so that they may address their behaviour (should 
they be contravening licensing legislation).  

In each instance of alcohol test purchasing by a person under 18 years of age, on a one-
off basis in retail premises accessible to the public, it is reasonable to assume that: 

(a) surveillance is not likely to be conducted in such a way as is likely to result in the 
obtaining of private information about a person (whether or not one specifically 
identified for the purposes of the investigation or operation) within the meaning of 
section 26(2) RIPA, and 

(b) The test purchaser is not a covert human intelligence source because he/she does 
not establish or maintain a personal or other relationship with a person for the 
covert purpose of facilitating the obtaining of information within the meaning of 
section 26(8) RIPA.  The one-time act of making a purchase in a shop open to the 
public, where there may even be no verbal exchange, cannot reasonably constitute 
establishing a relationship, personal or otherwise – other than a momentarily 
fleeting one in which no information is obtained which could reasonably constitute 
an interference with the privacy of the retailer.

Those assumptions are equally valid in circumstances where it is appropriate to evidence 
systematic breach of licensing legislation at any given licensed premises by using a 
number of different test purchasers each making a one-off purchase.  

Page 36



23

The Home Office does not believe that the use of a covert surveillance or evidence 
gathering device by either the child test purchaser or an observing officer alters the 
position stated above.

There are, however, some important qualifications to this advice.   Firstly, different 
considerations would apply where the test purchaser had made previous visits to the 
premises, or is to make repeated visits, and had established or is to establish a 
relationship with the retailer prior to the attempted test purchase.  Secondly, different 
considerations would apply if the attempted test purchase is made other than from retail 
premises open to the public, for example from a person’s home including parts of their 
home adjacent to retail premises. 

It is important that those individuals involved in the planning and conduct of test 
purchasing exercises avoid inciting, instigating, persuading or pressurising a person into 
committing an offence that, otherwise, would not have been committed. 

Finally the use being made of the powers in RIPA is being explored as part of an ACPO-
Home Office review being led by Trevor Pearce, Acting Director General of the National 
Crime Squad.  This review of RIPA is looking at the practices and procedures in place for 
the conduct of covert surveillance and the use of covert human intelligence sources with a 
view to identifying where further guidance is needed in the application of RIPA powers.  
However with AMEC II starting now, I have felt it important to offer this advice to you and 
your colleagues now. 

I have written in similar terms to the Chief Constable of Staffordshire, John Giffard, as 
ACPO portfolio holder in relation to alcohol issues, to the President of ACPO, Chris Fox, 
and to the President of the Superintendents’ Association, Rick Naylor. 

Yours sincerely 

SIMON WATKIN

Page 37



Agenda Item 7Page 38
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 8Page 47
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 9Page 54
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



P
a

g
e
 6

3
B

y
 v

irtu
e
 o

f p
a
ra

g
ra

p
h
(s

) 3
 o

f P
a
rt 1

 o
f S

c
h

e
d
u
le

 1
2
A

o
f th

e
 L

o
c
a

l G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t A
c
t 1

9
7

2
.

D
o

c
u
m

e
n
t is

 R
e
s
tric

te
d



Agenda Item 10Page 64
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 72
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 11Page 88
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 96
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 12Page 97
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 102
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 103
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 13Page 149
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 156
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 14Page 157
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 168
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 15Page 170
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 16Page 181
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 192
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 193
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 194
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 228
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 17Page 229
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 230
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted


	Agenda
	3 Devolved Budgets for Area Assemblies - Progress Report
	Area Assembly Devolved Budgets Appendix

	4 Energy Efficiency in Homes
	5 Under Age Sales Purchasing Procedures
	Under Age Sales Appendix

	7 Housing and Support Services for Older People
	8 Rotherham Independent Domestic Violence Advocacy Service
	9 Building New Council Homes
	Building New Council Houses Appendix

	10 Maltby Masterplan
	Maltby Masterplan Appendix

	11 Maltby Tarrans Estate
	Maltby Tarran Appendix

	12 Braithwell Road Redevelopment
	Braithwell Road APPENDIX 1  Plan
	Braithwell Road Appendix 2

	13 Brampton Bierlow Masterplan
	Brampton Appendix 2

	14 Chapel Avenue/Becknoll Road and Rother Street, Brampton Bierlow - Options
	Brampton Options App 1

	15 Dinnington Masterplan
	16 Nos. 28-48 Monksbridge Road, Laughton Common
	Monksbridge App 1
	Monksbridge App 2
	Monksbridge Appendix 3
	Monksbridge App 4

	17 Introductory Tenancy Review Panel
	Cabinet Report


